
MAYOR 
Joe Purcell 

POLICE CHIEF 
Paul M. George Jr. 

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 
Michael Hurff Jr.  

FINANCE OFFICER/CITY CLERK 
Andrew Lehr 

 
The City of 

Montana 
 

       City of Hardin     406 N Cheyenne Hardin MT 59034     Phone (406) 665-9260  Fax (406) 665-2719 
 
 
 

The City of Hardin is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 
 

Council Meeting 
of Tuesday, October 7, 2025 

 

Held by virtual meeting and the Public is invited to attend in person. 
 

 

Topics:  
City of Hardin Council Meeting – 10/07/2025    6:30 p.m. 

 

Start Time:  6:30p.m. Mountain Time 
 

The meeting will open at 6:15 p.m. 
 

If you will be logging into the Council meeting by: 
    Computer: Please identify yourself by submitting your first and last name by using the “Chat” function. 

       Phone:  Please identify yourself by stating your First and Last Name. 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9897104479?omn=88222211362  

Meeting ID: 989 710 4479 
 

One tap mobile 

+17193594580,,9897104479# US 

+12532050468,,9897104479# US  
Dial by your location 

• +1 719 359 4580 US 
• +1 253 205 0468 US 

• +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
• +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 

• +1 669 444 9171 US 
• +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose) 

• +1 309 205 3325 US 
• +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

• +1 360 209 5623 US 
• +1 386 347 5053 US 
• +1 507 473 4847 US 
• +1 564 217 2000 US 

• +1 646 558 8656 US (New York) 
• +1 646 931 3860 US 
• +1 689 278 1000 US 

• +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
• +1 305 224 1968 US  

Meeting ID: 989 710 4479 
  

 

Meetings are Audio Recorded ONLY 
Montana Legislature House Bill 890 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9897104479?omn=88222211362
tel:+17193594580,,9897104479
tel:+12532050468,,9897104479


                                  The City of Hardin 
AGENDA 406 N. Cheyenne Avenue 
 Hardin, MT  59034 

October 7, 2025 
 

 
Page 1 of 1 

AUDIO RECORDING BEGINS   
 

Swearing in of Police Officers Jake Kinder & Raymond Longstreth 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 6:30 P.M.   
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 

ROLL CALL: Mayor: __________  
Alderpersons: Steven Hopes      __________         Clayton Greer __________         Chris Sharpe            __________ 
   Rock Massine      __________         Jeremy Krebs  __________         Antonio Espinoza   __________ 
 

CONSENT AGENDA:  
Council Meeting        09/16/2025                          Claims 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT (agenda items only):    
 
 

MAYOR:   
              

COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
• Personnel Committee/City Policy: Mayor 
• Sewer & Water:  Massine                               
• Law Enforcement: Hopes         
• Streets & Alleys:  Espinoza             
• Parks & Playgrounds: Krebs            
• Finance/Landfill: Greer 
• Resolutions and Ordinances:  Sharpe   

 

SPECIAL COMMITTEES: 
 
 

PETITIONS & COMMUNICATIONS:  
o Montana Department of Transportation Newsletter 

 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  
o Chamber of Commerce Bid – Roof and Windows $63,787 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 
o Chamber of Commerce – Street Closure, portable restroom, and handwashing station for Trunk or Treat 
o All Traffic Quote - Speed Sign (grant funded) - $19,424.26 
o Intoximeters  
o Computers – Police Department  
o Police Academy – 2026  tuition $11,750  
o Mayor Purcell – out of town 
o Northcon Pay App #2 -  $347,612.09 

STAFF REPORTS  
• Public Works:   
• Finance:            BambooHR software 
• Police:  
• Legal:      
• Economic Development:  

 

RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
City Offices Closed: Monday, October 13, 2025 for Columbus Day 
 

City-County Planning Board Public Hearing: Gerber Variance Request - Tuesday, October 14, 2025,  7:00 p.m. 
at City Council Chambers  
 

Local Government Review Study Commission Meetings - 3rd Wednesday of each month, TBD Council Chambers 
  

City of Hardin Job Openings:  Full-time positions: Police Officer and Part-Time Building Inspector  
 
   
 

  Meeting adjourned at ____________P.M. 
AUDIO RECORDING ENDS 

 
 

Additions to the Agenda can be voted on by Council to add to the Agenda for the next Council meeting. 
Agenda items will need to be submitted by Wednesday noon before a Tuesday Council meeting.               



  September 16, 2025 - Minutes 

 1 of 4 
 

THE COMMON COUNCIL  
CITY of HARDIN, MONTANA  
 
 
COUNCIL MEETING: The Regular Council Meeting for September 16, 2025 was called to 
order at 6:31 p.m. with Mayor Joe Purcell presiding by reciting the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
The following Aldermen were present:  Steven Hopes, Clayton Greer, Chris Sharpe, Rock Massine, 
Antonio Espinoza, and Jeremy Krebs. 

 
Also present:  Finance Officer/City Clerk Andrew Lehr, Public Works Director Michael Hurff, Jr., 
Deputy City Clerk Angela Zimmer, City Attorney Jordan Knudsen and  Police Chief Paul George, 
Jr.  

 
Also present physically: Several members of the public 
There was not anyone present by virtual meeting. 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS & CLAIMS:  Greer made the motion to approve 
the Council minutes as written for September 2, 2025.  Motion seconded by Hopes.  On a voice 
vote the motion was unanimously approved.  Hopes motioned to approve the Public Hearing 
minutes as written for September 2, 2025.  Motion seconded by Greer.  On a voice vote the motion 
was unanimously approved. 
 

Greer made a motion to approve the claims for September 16, 2025.   
     

                                                             CLAIM No.                                             Monthly Total 
   
  June, 2025                                              32770                                                 $              715.85       

  July, 2025                                          32871-32872                                                     27,065.50 
 

  August, 2025                32771-32776, 32778-32780, 32783, 32785, 
                                             32787-32789, 32791, 32798-32823                               112,413.67 
 

  September, 2025          32777, 32784, 32786, 32790, 32792-32797                        494,648.98              

Claims Total (Expenditures)                                                                             $     634,844.00 
 

August, 2025   $     344,793.56 
 

TOTAL Submitted                                                                                             $     979,637.56 
             
Sharpe seconded. On a voice vote, the motion was unanimously approved.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  

Jim Wedel, resident neighboring property, provided a letter to Council and read the letter 
aloud regarding the M&R Developing, LLC variance request.  He and Mrs. Wedel are property 
owners neighboring the property located on 1st Street South and West Railway. The letter requests 
for the variance to be denied.  They believe the laws that have determined required distances for 
the setbacks have established for a reason and variances shortening these distances should not be 
granted.  They commend Mr. Ebert for wanting to build on the property, but feel he should revise 
his plans to stay within the required setbacks.  He read the names of neighboring property owners 
that signed the letter. 
 

George Toyne noted the gentleman wants to build and develop in our town and voiced the 
idea to bring up to him to maybe swap a vacant property the City owns with him that he could build 
on and use that property as a park. 
   
MAYOR:  

Mayor Purcell reported the Tourism Group has a survey available that gives the opportunity 
for individuals to provide their input.   

 

Mayor Purcell reported the Coal Board came to Hardin after their meeting last Thursday.  
The City, in collaboration with the hospital and Big Horn County, gave them a tour; showed them 
the projects they helped to sponsor and voiced appreciation for their contributions to the projects. 

 



  September 16, 2025 - Minutes 

 2 of 4 
 

The City-County Planning Board had new appointments to their board that were 
made by Big Horn County; Erin McCleary, Taylor Sidwell, and Larry Vandersloot.  
Mayor Purcell announced the City has two appointments that expire in December; Letters 
of Interest will be advertised.  

 

Jane Lamb, Tobacco Education Specialist, and Deb French, Public Health Nurse 
for Treasure County, provided information on Senate Bill 390.  French noted electronic 
devices have been added into the CIAA (Clean Indoor Air Act).  She provided signage 
for businesses to post. 

 
COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
Personnel Policy/City Policy:   

Mayor Purcell reported the City has openings for full-time Police Officers, 
General Laborer – Landfill, and part-time Building Inspector.    

 
Sewer & Water: 

Massine reported dirt work is being done at the Wastewater Treatment Plant and 
the first part of lining the water tank may start this week.  
 
Law Enforcement: 
 
Streets & Alleys: 

Espinoza reported Wharton Asphalt paved Peritsa Creek. 
 
Parks & Playgrounds:  

Krebs reported the sprinkler lines have been installed at South Park.  The cornhole 
boards and horseshoe pits will be installed soon; wood chips have been installed in the 
new playground area and the border has been finished and wood chips have been installed 
in the new playground equipment in Heimat Park. The splash pad company was delayed 
and are set be here on September 29th.  He reviewed what needs to be completed before 
the gazebo is delivered. 
  
Finance/Landfill: 

Greer noted there is an advertisement in the Original Briefs about the landfill 
canister site being open.  
 
Resolutions & Ordinances:   
 
SPECIAL COMMITTEES: 
 
PETITIONS & COMMUNICATIONS: 

Mayor Purcell reported the City received the City-County Planning Board meeting 
minutes of June 9, 2025. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  N/A 
  
NEW BUSINESS:  
 Mayor Purcell reported the City received a recommendation from the City-
County Planning Board to approve a Conditional Use Application that was submitted by 
Douglas and Florence Stewart.  The request is to build a pole barn on their property at 7 
Watson Drive.  Krebs asked if the setbacks were adequate.  It was noted it is, the issue is 
the size of the building.  Krebs motioned to approve the request.  Hopes seconded. On a 
voice vote the motion was unanimously approved. 
 

Mayor Purcell reported the City received a recommendation from the City-County 
Planning Board to deny a Variance Application that was submitted by Michael Ebert, 
M&R Developing, LLC.  The request is to build a home on the property addressed 506 
W. Railroad Street. Ebert provided an updated drawing of the plans.  He noted he 
understands the concerns.  He is omitting the request for any changes to a side setback 
and doesn’t need any changes up front; the only thing they are asking for is a rear set 
back from twenty to twelve feet. He reviewed the plans.  Mayor Purcell asked if the 
original proposal that was denied was for different setbacks than he is proposing now.  
Ebert noted yes, they are dropping the requests for the change to the side and front 
setbacks.  Mayor Purcell asked Knudsen if this would have to go back before the City- 



  September 16, 2025 - Minutes 

 3 of 4 
 

County Planning Board.  Knudsen noted it would; the plans have changed and it was not considered 
with the new plans. Ebert asked about changing the address. It was noted 911 Emergency Services 
at the County takes care of addresses.  Mayor Purcell noted because of the change in the application 
he will have to go back and re-apply to the City-County Planning Board with those changes.  Greer 
motioned to deny the variance due to not meeting those requirements. Hopes seconded.  Krebs 
noted he does not think it would be a good idea to trade lots and put a City park there; there are 
grain trucks, beet trucks, cars flying, etc. Mayor Purcell asked if there was any more discussion or 
comments about the motion or this request.  There were none.  On a voice vote the motion was 
unanimously approved. 
 

Hurff reported the City was able to get in with the County on the paving of Peritsa Creek 
Road.  Wharton submitted an estimate in the amount of $13,275 for paving a 2” overlay of asphalt; 
adding the average price for that is around $25 - $30,000. Krebs motioned to approve.  Massine 
Seconded.  On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved. 
 

Alexandria Edwards, Secretary for the Chamber of Commerce and Project Manager for the 
City, reported the Chamber created a committee for the depot grant. She has been working closely 
with Lehr, Tina Toyne, and Rachel Mullen from the Montana Department of Commerce on the 
grant.  Toyne did an onsite visit with Conair Engineering and Wyman Construction after the City 
posted Request for Proposals and there were not any responses. Wyman Construction has been 
working with the committee to utilize as much of the $45,000 grant funding as possible to do 18 
windows and fix some roofing tiles with a quote in the amount of $63,787.  Within the grant the 
City committed to $9,000; a percentage of that could be in-kind. She has written a letter to Big Horn 
County to ask for a $9,000 contribution as a match to the City.  She reviewed what the original 
grant included and noted all of those items could not be done within the $45,000.  Mayor Purcell 
noted the grant was sponsored by the City with the Chamber.  It was noted that she reached out to 
five different contractors and only two responded. Knudsen noted part of the issue was with BNSF, 
and asked if they had communications with them.  The City leases the Depot from BNSF and the 
City leases the property to the Chamber.  BNSF wanted the City to buy their insurance etc. Toyne 
reviewed communication she has had with them. Knudsen asked if they had something in writing 
with permission BNSF to do this; the project.  Toyne noted she does not have it in writing; she will 
work on that documentation. Krebs asked Knudsen if his opinion is to wait until something is signed 
from them; wait on this approval.  Knudsen noted it is in the best interest of the City to get 
something in writing from BNSF or their third party that manages the property. He added he 
encourages for the contactor to carry general liability insurance.  Krebs motioned to table until the 
next meeting.  Hopes seconded.  On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved.  
 

Lehr provided a review of the Tax Incremental Finance District (TIFD) Annual Report.  The 
Power Plant has been paying their current taxes; adding the new company that took over the data 
mining company is behind on their obligation. Greer motioned to approve the report. Massine 
seconded. On a voice vote the motion was unanimously approved. 
 
STAFF REPORTS: 
Public Works:   

Hurff reported he received an email from Kylee Macks, with the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, reporting they will be doing a site visit to remove pest traps that are placed in the City 
to test for invasive insects (species); the Vac Truck was delivered by Joe Johnson; and the storage 
unit company has finished the blacktop on 12th Street. He is working to purchase more of the three-
hundred-gallon trash cans from Billings.   

 
Finance: 

Lehr reviewed the Event Notice – Continuing Disclosures.   
 

The City received the first State Entitlement for FY 2025-2026 in the amount of $228,230.82.  
The Montana Main Street Program has finished their review of the Preliminary Architectural Report 
for the Becker Hotel; they accepted the completion report and the funds in the amount of $45,000 
will be distributed to the City. The third request for the Pilot Tourism Grant will be submitted this 
week in the amount of just over $6,500; currently, through the end of August, the City has requested 
the total of $14,128.45. The fourth request for the Rural Development Loan for the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Project was turned in this week for the amount of $391,545; this will cover the 
second pay application from Northcon Construction company and also the engineering invoices for 
August. Lehr provided a review of funds that have been committed to street projects from a  portion  



  September 16, 2025 - Minutes 

 4 of 4 
 

of revenue that is received in the Capital Improvement Fund and reviewed cash reserve 
fund balances in the water, garbage and landfill funds per Resolution 2406. He reviewed 
the second pay application submitted by Northcon Inc. for the Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Project; adding this will go before Council at the next meeting. 
 
Police: 

Chief Paul George, Jr. reviewed calls for service and provided a report on arrests 
that have been made due to public drinking.  He announced Officers Jake Kinder and 
Raymond Longstreth joined the department yesterday. 
 
Legal: 

Knudsen reported it has been busy in City Court; he extended a “Thank You” to  
Chief George. 

 
Economic Development:  
 
RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 
Resolution NO. 2420 – Establishing Wages for the Fire Chief and Assistant Fire 
Chief.  Hopes motioned to approve the resolution.  Massine seconded.  On a voice vote 
the motion was unanimously approved. 

 

Resolution NO. 2421 – Authorizing the Submission of Funding Applications in 
Support of the City of Hardin’s Capital Improvement Plan.  Greer motioned to 
approve the resolution.  Hopes seconded.  On a voice vote the motion was unanimously 
approved. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT: N/A 

 
ANNOUNCEMENTS:   
 

Mayor Purcell announced the following employee anniversaries:  Randy Melville, 19 
years and LaRicia Smith, 2 years.  He reported Local Government Review Study 
Commission Meetings are held the third Wednesday of each month; the meeting of 
September 10th has been cancelled.   
 

The City of Hardin has the following Job Openings: Full-time position - Police Officer 
and General Laborer – Landfill and Part-Time position - Building Inspector. Positions 
are open until filled. 
 

Espinoza asked Knudsen for an update on the Local Government Review Study.  
Knudsen reported there was a Community Outreach event two weeks ago; 6-8 
community members came and discussed many topics. They are looking at possibly 
planning another community event. 

 
Greer motioned to adjourn the meeting at 7:26 p.m.  Sharpe seconded.  On a voice vote 
the motion was unanimously approved.   

 
_________________________________ 
Joe Purcell, Mayor     

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Andrew Lehr, Finance Officer/City Clerk 
































































































































